94-4801/lo

#### THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

#### CASE NO. 84,413

SECOND DCA CASE NO.: 94-1017

L.T. CASE NO.: 92-7197, DIV. H

Fla Bar No.: 0541877

RUDOLPH ACOSTA, M.D.,

Petitioner,

vs.

NANCY RICHTER and GARY RICHTER, husband and wife,

Respondents.

### PETITIONER, RUDOLPH ACOSTA, M.D.'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEPHENS, LYNN, KLEIN & McNICHOLAS, P.A. Attorneys for Defendant(s) 9130 S. Dadeland Blvd., PH2 Two Datran Center Miami, Florida 33156 Telephone: (305) 670-3700

By: PHILIP D. PARRISH, ESQ.

LAW OFFICES OF STEPHENS, LYNN, KLEIN & MCNICHOLAS, P.A. MIAMI • WEST PALM BEACH • FORT LAUDERDALE • TAMPA

FEB 6 1995

SID J. WHITE

amand appres: 017

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The District Court's Opinion, RICHTER v. BAGALA, 19 FLW D1817 (Fla. 2d DCA, Opinion issued August 24, 1994), directly and expressly conflicts with JOHNSON v. MT. SINAI MEDICAL CENTER, 615 So.2d 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution.

At issue in this appeal is the interpretation and application of **Florida Statute §455.241(2) (1993)**. The trial court had granted Dr. Acosta's motion for a limited ex parte conference with her treating physicians which excluded discussion of the specific medical condition of the patient/Plaintiff.

Ms. Richter and her derivative claim husband have sued Dr. Acosta and Dr. Bagala alleging surgical negligence and lack of informed consent.<sup>1</sup> As part of his pretrial preparation, counsel for Dr. Acosta filed a motion, consistent with JOHNSON v. MT. SINAI MED CTR., 615 So.2d 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), to be allowed to participate in ex parte conferences with any of the plaintiffs nonparty treating physicians who would agree to such a conference.

After entertaining argument on the motion, the trial court entered an order which allowed defense counsel to have general medical discussions with the treating physicians. However, the order prohibited the attorneys from discussing the specific medical condition of the patient with the doctors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although the complaint was not included in the respective Appendices filed by the Petitioner and Respondent below, it is included in Dr. Acosta's Appendix before this Court for the court's edification.

The Second District Court of Appeal, without hearing oral argument, entertained the petition and quashed the order. 19 FLW D1817 (Fla. 2d DCA, Opinion issued August 24, 1994).<sup>2</sup> The District Court set forth the text of the Statute, and then held that the statute waived confidentiality of the medical condition of a patient, or of information furnished by the patient to a health care provider in four limited instances: (a) when a health care provider is or reasonably expects to be named as a defendant in a medical malpractice (for that health care provider's records and information); (b) when the patient gives written authorization; (c) when compelled by subpoena in a deposition, evidentiary hearing or trial for which proper notice was given, or (d) when two or more current health care providers find it necessary to communicate. 19 FLW at D1817.

The underlined parenthetical phrase listed under subheading (a) above was simply appended to the statute by the district court. It does not appear in the statute, and it negates what was intended to be an exception to the statute for all medical malpractice cases. The district court then reasoned that since none of the above-noted waivers existed in this case the trial court had erred by entering its order. Id.

In doing so, the court dispensed with Dr. Acosta's jurisdictional argument (i.e., certiorari review was improper where the Plaintiff/Petitioner could show no irremediable harm as a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As of the date of service of this brief there is no reported citation in the official reporter for this case.

result of the conferences which would simply reveal information which was otherwise obtainable by deposition), and Dr. Acosta's constitutional argument (i.e., that the statute is an unconstitutional infringement upon the rule-making authority of the courts).

Finally, in response to Dr. Acosta's argument that the trial court's order did not violate the plain wording of the statute because it prohibited defense counsel from discussing the Plaintiff's specific medical condition, the district Court rejected the holding of the Third District in JOHNSON v. MT. SINAI MED CTR, 615 So.2d 257 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), noting that "we see no reason to require treating physicians to listen and not respond to an attorney, who is not their attorney, about their professional responsibilities." RICHTER, 19 FLW at D1817. The court further disagreed with the JOHNSON decision because it allowed an "unsupervised" conference with treating physicians "where the patient's attorney cannot be present to protect against the disclosure of privileged information." Id. The court specifically adopted the opinions of its sister courts in KIRKLAND v. MIDDLETON, 639 So.2d 1002 (Fla 5th DCA 1994), and FRANKLIN v. NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INS. CO., 566 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. den'd 574 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1990). After entertaining jurisdictional briefs from the parties, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this matter on January 13, 1995.

3

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The District Court's opinion should be quashed for several reasons. First, the District Court failed to recognize that the restrictions placed upon an ex parte contact with a plaintiff's treating physicians do not, by the very language of the statute, apply to medical malpractice actions.

Second, the District Court failed to narrowly construe the restrictions placed upon a defendant's common law right to conduct such ex parte conferences, <u>see</u>, <u>e.q.</u> CORALLUZZO v. FASS, 450 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1984), by the statute which has been enacted in derogation of the common law.

Third, the District Court erred when it held the statute to be constitutional. The statute represents a legislative encroachment upon this Court's inherent rule-making authority. It does not create a substantive right, it merely regulates the fashion in which evidence may be obtained. <u>See</u>, **GORDON v. DAVIS, 267 so.2d 874 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972)**. The statute is also an unconstitutional abridgement of freedom of speech and association.

Our position can be crystallized by making reference to and analyzing a portion of the recent decision in **KIRKLAND v. MIDDLETON, 639 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)**. There the court made the following observation:

> Were unsupervised exparte interviews allowed, medical malpractice plaintiffs could not object and act to protect against inadvertent disclosure of privileged information, nor could they effectively prove that improper disclosure actually took place.

> > 4

## 639 So.2d at 1004.

The question arises: Precisely what privileged information is the court talking about? There is no patient/physician testimonial privilege. MORRISON v. MALMQUIST, 62 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1953). The statute, by its very terms, provides that a defendant in a medical malpractice or other personal injury case may subpoena a treating physician's records and take that treating physician's deposition. Thus, there is no information which the Plaintiff's treating physician has which cannot be discovered. What then can possibly be disclosed inadvertently (or advertently) during an ex parte conference? Absolutely nothing. The Fifth District Court of Appeal has unwittingly exposed the folly of the statute by articulating the purported reason for applying the statute; the Second District has now followed suit.

The statute creates the only non-party class of fact witnesses on the face of the earth who cannot -- if they so desire -- speak off the record with counsel for either party. The statute is an act of legislative legerdemain. The legislature has enacted a privilege which is not really a privilege, and which dissolves the moment a subpoena is served or a deposition is taken. The statute protects nothing from discovery; it simply regulates the fashion in which information may be discovered. There is thus absolutely no harm, let alone irreparable harm, that could possibly be established by a plaintiff if <u>ex parte</u> conferences occur.

5

## ISSUE PRESENTED

- 1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER, WHICH ALLOWED DEFENSE COUNSEL IN A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASE TO PARTICIPATE IN VOLUNTARY EX PARTE CONFERENCES WITH NON-PARTY TREATING PHYSICIANS WITH THE PROVISO THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S SPECIFIC MEDICAL CONDITION NOT BE DISCUSSED, VIOLATES FLORIDA STATUTE §455.241(2) (1993)?
- 2. IF SO, WHETHER THE STATUTE IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL INFRINGEMENT BY THE LEGISLATURE ON THIS COURT'S INHERENT RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY?

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER, WHICH ALLOWED DEFENSE COUNSEL IN A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CASE TO PARTICIPATE IN VOLUNTARY EX PARTE CONFERENCES WITH NON-PARTY TREATING PHYSICIANS WITH THE PROVISO THAT THE PLAINTIFF'S SPECIFIC MEDICAL CONDITION NOT BE DISCUSSED, DOES NOT VIOLATE FLORIDA STATUTE §455.241(2).

#### An Historical Perspective

Over forty years ago this Court affirmed that the State of Florida does not recognize a patient-physician testimonial privilege. MORRISON v. MALMQUIST, 62 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1953). Eleven Years ago that holding was reaffirmed in the context of a challenge to voluntary ex parte contact between defense counsel and a plaintiff's treating physicians. <u>See</u>, CORALLUZZO v. FASS, 450 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1984). In CORALLUZZO this Court could find "no reason in law or in equity to disapprove the decision of the district court," which had authorized a voluntary ex parte conference between defense counsel and a treating health care provider. 450 So.2d at 859.

In doing so, this Court recognized that treating physicians are fact witnesses, not retained experts. Thus, they do not come within the purview of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(3), such that any conversation between defense counsel and a treating physician or statement taken of a treating physician need not be disclosed or provided to plaintiff's counsel. <u>See</u>, FRANTZ v. GOLEBIEWSKI, 407 So.2d 283 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), which was discussed and adopted in CORALLUZZO.

In FRANTZ the Third District had held that the defendant in a

7

medical malpractice action who had taken a sworn statement from one of plaintiff's treating physicians without giving notice to the plaintiff could not be compelled to provide a copy of the sworn statement to the plaintiff. Again, this decision was based upon the common sense notion that the treating physician, unlike a retained medical expert, has gained his knowledge as a fact witness, and not as an expert retained in anticipation of litigation.

As the court noted in FRANTZ:

Counsel are free to speak to and record the statements of any such witness who is willing to make them.

FRANTZ, 407 So.2d at 284. (footnote omitted). Relying upon MORRISON v. MALMQUIST, <u>supra</u>, the court pointed out that there is no physician-patient privilege in the State of Florida which would preclude such contact because of the witness' professional relationship with the plaintiff.

In contrast to a retained medical expert witness, or a retained IME witness, a treating doctor, "while unquestionably an expert, does not acquire his expert knowledge for the purpose of litigation but rather simply in the course of attempting to make his patient well." **407 So.2d at 285**. Thus, the treating physician should be "treated as an ordinary [fact] witness." **Id**.

#### The Statute

Prior to 1988, Section 455.241(2), Florida Statutes was a sleepy little medical records statute which provided for the confidentiality of a patient's medical records unless, of course,

8

the patient was involved in litigation, and a litigant had served a subpoena to obtain the records.<sup>3</sup> However, in 1988 the Statute was dramatically altered as a result of intense lobbying efforts on the part of the Plaintiff's Personal Injury Bar. Thus, since 1988, in addition to addressing medical records, the statute has placed certain restrictions upon discussion of "the medical condition of a patient" by a physician with any person other than the patient or the patient's legal representative, or other health care providers involved in the care and treatment of the patient.

This amendment, and the intermediate appellate court decisions which have construed it, have set off a firestorm of controversy, particularly in the medical malpractice arena. At issue is the intent of the legislature in amending the statute, and the wisdom, indeed the constitutionality, of precluding voluntary ex parte conferences between defense counsel and treating physicians, particularly with respect to medical malpractice actions.

To date, with the exception of the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in JOHNSON v. MT. SINAI, <u>supra</u>, the intermediate district courts of appeal have given the statute an expansive interpretation. We will argue in this brief that an expansive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Thus, the statute as originally worded, and as it is worded today with respect to <u>medical records</u>, recognizes what must be recognized -- that once a patient sues a physician (or some other alleged tortfeasor) the patient has put his or her medical condition at issue and any attendant confidentiality is thereby waived. <u>See e.g.</u>, **SCHEFF v. MAYO, 645 So.2d 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)** (plaintiff is not entitled to invoke the psychotherapistpatient privilege after placing mental condition in issue by seeking damages for mental anguish); <u>accord</u>, **ARZOLA v. REIGOSA**, **534 So.2d 883 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); YOHO v. LINDSLEY**, **248 So.2d 187 (Fla.** 

interpretation is unwise as a matter of public policy, unreasonable in light of the statutory language, and unconstitutional as applied.

### The Exception For Medical Malpractice Cases<sup>4</sup>

The Statute provides in pertinent part that:

Except in a medical negligence action when a health care provider is or reasonably expects to be named <u>as a defendant</u>, information disclosed to a health care practitioner by a patient in the course of the care and treatment of such patient is confidential and may be disclosed only to other health care providers involved in the care or treatment of the patient, or if permitted by written authorization from the patient or compelled by subpoena at а deposition, evidentiary hearing, or trial for which proper notice has been given.

The highlighted portion of the statute carves out medical malpractice actions from the statute's restrictions upon ex parte conferences. Unfortunately, both the district court below, and the Fifth District in KIRKLAND, <u>supra</u>, have added words to the statute which do not appear in the statute. KIRKLAND, 639 So.2d at 1004. Those courts have concluded that the highlighted language simply creates an exception for the medical malpractice defendant himself. That position does not withstand analysis for two reasons.

First, it would be completely unnecessary to make this limited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Although this argument was not pursued by Dr. Acosta below, the District Court's opinion squarely addresses this issue by "amending" the statute by virtue of asserting the language which does not appear in the statute. Because this Court has taken jurisdiction, it may address any and all issues which are necessary to the determination of this matter.

exception. Obviously, a medical malpractice defendant may, <u>indeed</u> <u>must</u>, discuss his own care and treatment of the patient/plaintiff with his own counsel. Thus, an exception which simply carves out the medical malpractice defendant himself (or herself) would be unnecessary.

Second, if the exception was only intended to apply to the medical malpractice defendant, then the highlighted language above should read "Except in a medical negligence action when <u>the</u> healthcare provider is or reasonably expects to be named as a defendant." The statute uses the indefinite article "a" instead of the definite article "the." If the legislature had intended to limit the exception solely to medical malpractice <u>defendants</u>, then it would have used the definite article "the," which could only apply to <u>the defendant</u>.

The restrictions on informal communications with treating physicians simply do not apply to medical negligence actions such as the present case. The legislature is presumed to know the existing law at the time it enacts a statute. HOLLAR v. INT'L BANKERS INS. CO., 572 So.2d 937, 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) rev. dism'd, 582 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1991). Thus, given the plain language of the amendment, and the foregoing rule of statutory construction, it follows that the amendment does not change the common law as expressed in CORALLUZZO and FRANTZ which specifically allowed ex parte interviews between defendant physicians and treating physicians in medical malpractice cases.

The portion of the exception noted above which includes in the

exception a health care provider who "reasonably expects to be named as a defendant," is an obvious reference to Florida Statute §766.106, which <u>compels</u> health care providers who are on notice of a claim and their insurance carrier to conduct a good faith presuit investigation, review, and evaluation of a malpractice claim. The defendant and his carrier are required by that statute to undertake a good faith examination of the claim so that the defendant can make an informed decision to reject the claim, make a settlement offer, or offer to admit liability and arbitrate the issue of damages at the conclusion of the presuit period. Obviously, defendants and their insurance carriers will need to consult with <u>any and all treating physicians</u> during this presuit process.<sup>5</sup>

The language which has been added to the statute by the District Court below, and the court in KIRKLAND, <u>supra</u>, brings Fla. Stat.§455.241 into conflict with Chapter 766.<sup>6</sup> Yet the statutes must be read <u>in pari materia</u> so as to harmonize the statutes rather than to create conflict between them. <u>See</u>, WOODGATE DEVELOPMENT CORP. v. HAMILTON INVESTMENT TRUST, 351 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1977).

Courts in other jurisdictions are divided on the subject of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup><u>See</u>, **Section §766.101(3)(a)** which refers to health care providers as participants who will furnish information to medical review committees, and **Section §766.106(5)** which anticipates the participation of physicians in the presuit process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In contrast to **RICHTER** and **KIRKLAND**, the opinion in **FRANKLIN v. NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INS. CO., 566 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. den'd., 574 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1990)**, did not involve a medical malpractice action. Thus, the applicability of the exception did not come into play. Unfortunately, the **KIRKLAND** case simply engrafted the **FRANKLIN** opinion's <u>ratio</u> decendi</u> to the medical malpractice case before it, and the **RICHTER** court followed suit.

voluntary ex parte conferences. Many courts have allowed ex parte access to treating physicians to both plaintiffs and defendants.<sup>7</sup> Other courts, however, (typically either interpreting an evidentiary privilege or announcing a broad statement of public policy), have precluded defense counsel from participating in voluntary ex parte conferences with treating physicians.<sup>8</sup>

Although these cases from other jurisdictions will certainly help to crystalize the issues involved in voluntary ex parte conferencing, this Court's focus must necessarily be upon the common law history in this State, and the impact <u>vel non</u> of the 1988 Amendment to Fla. Stat. §455.241 upon that common law background.

<sup>8</sup>HORNER v. ROWAN COMPANIES, INC., 153 F.R.D. 597 (S.D. Tex. 1994); HARLAN v. LEWIS, 141 F.R.D. 107 (E.D. Ark. 1929); MANION v. N.P.W. MEDICAL CTR OF N.E. PENNSYLVANIA, INC., 676 F.Supp. 585 (M.D. Pa. 1987); ALSTON v. GREATER SOUTHWEST COMMUNITY HOSPITAL, 107 F.R.D. 35 (D.D.C. 1985); DUQUETTE v. SUPERIOR COURT, 878 P.2d 634 (Ariz. App. 1989); KARSTEN v. MCCRAY, 509 N.E.2d 1376 (I11. App. 1987), appeal denied, 517 N.E.2d 1086 (I11. 1987); CUA v. MORRISON, 626 N.E.2d 581 (Ind. App. 1983), opinion adopted, 636 N.E.2d 1248 (Ind. 1994); ROOSEVELT HOTEL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP v. SWEENEY, 394 N.W.2d 353 (Iowa 1986); WENNINGER v. MUESING, 240 N.W.2d 333 (Minn. 1976); NELSON v. LEWIS, 534 A.2d 720 (N.H. 1987); ANKER v. BRODNITZ, 413 N.Y.S.2d 582 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1979); LOUDON v. MHYRE, 756 P.2d 138 (Wash. 1988); KITZMILLER v. HENNING, 437 S.E.2d 452 (W.Va., 1993).

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