FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 21 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 84,413

CLERK SUPPLEME COURT
By Chilef Deputy Clerk

RUDOLPH ACOSTA, M.D., Petitioner,

vs.

NANCY RICHTER, and GARY RICHTER,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF AN ORDER OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS NANCY AND GARY RICHTER

GROVER, WEINSTEIN, STAUBER, & FRIEDMAN, P.A. 777 Arthur Godfrey Rd. 2d Floor Miami Beach, FL 33140 305-673-3000/Fax (305) 531-1708

By: Kenneth S. Spiegelman, Esq. Fla. Bar No. 0894664

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida Statute Section 455.241(2)(1993) is constitutional and has already been held so by this Court. It exists to protect the substantive right of the physician-patient privilege, one of the most critical privileges existing in Florida jurisprudence. Indeed, in the absence of such a privilege, it is chilling to think of the impact upon the candid relationship between a physician and a patient.

The Petitioner's argument that the privilege, in its totality, is waived by the initiation of a lawsuit or the filing of a Notice of Intent in a medical negligence action is misplaced. The privilege exists in spite of the filing of a lawsuit or the serving of a Notice of Intent. In fact, Section 455.241(2) does nothing more than further

reinforce the substantive nature of the privilege by reaffirming the fact that discovery of privileged information is only allowed through limited discovery methods. Indeed, the case which led to this inter-district conflict, <u>Johnson</u>, <u>supra</u>, was a medical negligence case, in which the Court clearly recognized the statutory prohibition against <u>ex parte</u> contact.

The clear language of the statute, its history, and a simple reading of same clearly demonstrates that ACOSTA's position is totally incorrect. The statute <u>does not</u> create a privilege in all cases <u>except</u> medical negligence cases. As this Court and every district court have held, the statute forbids <u>ex parte</u> interviews in <u>all</u> cases, including medical negligence cases, unless the physician is actually a defendant or a target of a medical negligence case.

In addition, the statute violates neither the Court's rule-making authority nor the physicians' First Amendment rights. Section 455.241(2) embraces a clear substantive objective by regulating the manner in which the Defendant interviews a treating physician. It forbids ex parte contact because that is likely to result in the disclosure of irrelevant, privileged information which would not be disclosed in the type of discovery proceeding in which Plaintiff's counsel is present to protect the Plaintiff's rights.

¹ It must be noted that, in the instant case, ACOSTA has raised three (3) issues on which there is no inter-district conflict. As a result, and since ACOSTA has chosen not to defend <u>Johnson</u>, his arguments are not properly before this Court. <u>See, Dober v. Worrell</u>, 401 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 1981); <u>Gifford v. Galayie Homes of Tampa, Inc.</u>, 204 So. 2d (Fla 1967).

The statute is substantive because it regulates the content of the information obtained in the interview. Furthermore, it does not violate the First Amendment because it regulates the time, place, and manner through which information can be obtained. It does this in pursuit of a legitimate governmental objective. Simply put, the statute is constitutional.

The statute is not subject to the narrow construction which ACOSTA advances.

The plain wording of the statute demonstrates the inappropriateness of ACOSTA's untenable arguments.

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeals should be approved.

ARGUMENT

A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER, PERMITTING EX PARTE CONTACT BETWEEN DEFENSE COUNSEL AND NON-PARTY TREATING PHYSICIANS, VIOLATED FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 455.241(2), FLA. STAT. (1993).

The answer to this question is that the underlying trial court order clearly violated the statute. As this Court held in Rojas v. Ryder Truck Rental, 641 So. 2d 855, 858 (Fla. 1994), approving Franklin v. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 566 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), rev. dismissed, 574 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1990), in the absence of a written authorization from the patient, or an appropriate discovery vehicle, the statute allows ex parte contact with the Plaintiff's treating physicians only "in a medical negligence action, when a health care provider is or reasonably expects to be named as a Defendant...." (emphasis added).

As the First District Court in Franklin stated:

In other words, in all cases other than those where the health care provider is a Defendant, unless the Plaintiff voluntarily provides a written authorization to the Defendant, the Defendant's discovery of the privileged matter can be compelled only through the subpoena power of the Court with proper notice and in accordance with the discovery provisions of the Rules of Civil Procedure

<u>ID.</u> at 534. Therefore, it is absolutely clear that unless the doctor is a Defendant or a target of the medical negligence action, the substantive privilege provided by Section 455.241(2), Fla. Stat. (1993), is not waived.

ACOSTA's proposed interpretation of the statute would achieve a baseless result. See, e.g., New v. Miami Herald Publishing Company, 462 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 1985); City of St. Petersburg v. Siebold, 48 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1950). The statute does not eliminate the privilege for medical negligence cases. On the contrary, the privilege remains in those cases with the exception of the Defendant doctor.²

Furthermore, ACOSTA's proposed construction of the statute is misplaced. By arguing that the statute should have said "the" health care provider is a target, ACOSTA argues that the article "the" refers to the provider in question while use of the article "a" would refer to all health care providers. However, ACOSTA fails to mention that the Legislature used the same language ("a") describing the privilege to extend to all cases except those in which the physician, himself, is a Defendant or a target. Then, in those cases, the contact is limited to those physicians and their lawyers, only.

² RICHTER hereby adopts that portion of the <u>amicus</u> brief of the Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers which discuses the fact that there is no distinction between the necessity of the privilege in a products liability case (or any other personal injury action) and a medical negligence action.

In addition, Chapter 766 of the Florida Statutes is not in conflict with the subject. Those statutes, in fact, prohibit certain types of access. The Court's attention is directed to Section 766.101(5), Fla. Stat., which prohibits access to any information disclosed during the Medical Review Committee's investigation. See, e.g., Cruger v. Love, 599 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1992); Tarpon Springs General Hospital v. Hudak, 556 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Section 766.101(5) also forbids the discovery of any material work product, which is considered developed during presuit. Thus, the internal investigation is protected.

The confidential nature of the relationship between a physician and his patient is firmly adhered in the law. It is essential to the relationship between the doctor and his patient. See, e.g., Wenniger v. Muesing, 240 N.W. 2d 333 (Minn. 1976); Duquette v. Superior Court of County of Mariopa, 778 P.2d 634 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1989); Loudon v. Mhyre, 756 P. 2d 138 (Wash. 1988).

It must also be noted that the pre-suit portions of Chapter 766 also control discovery. If a doctor, in pre-suit, demonstrates a genuine need for access to another doctor's information, he may file a pre-suit bill of discovery, and take that doctor's discovery deposition. See, e.g., Adventist Health System/Sunbelt, Inc. v. Hedgewood, 569 So. 2d 1295 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Section 455.241(2) does the same thing. It allows access to information but only through appropriate discovery methods which protect the confidential nature of the physician-patient relationship. Thus, there is no conflict between Chapter 766 and Section 455.241(2). The arguments raised by ACOSTA, in that regard, are incorrect. The trial court's order violated the Statute.

B. IF THE EX PARTE CONTACT VIOLATES FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 455.241(2), IS THE STATUTE UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

ACOSTA asserts that Section 455.241(2), Fla.Stat. (1993) is unconstitutional because it infringes upon the rule making function of the Florida Supreme Court. The Petitioner further argues that it also curtails the First Amendment right to free speech and association. Most respectfully, these arguments are without merit and totally misplaced. Indeed, nothing could be further from the truth.

By its very nature, Section 455.241(2), Fla Stat. (1993), created a statutory physician-patient privilege which had not previously existed. Indeed, as a result of this statute, physicians are now ethically and statutorily obligated to maintain the privilege which includes the Plaintiff's condition, records, and all information disclosed to that physician, in confidence. A patient is rightfully entitled to rely upon that privilege and that confidence. Section 455.241(2) created a <u>substantive</u> right, controlling the relationship between patients and doctors and establishing that patients have a right to maintain control over and protect all information, verbal, written or otherwise, which they entrust to their physicians, in confidence. Therefore, under the law laid out by this Court and the district courts of this State, the statute serves the purpose of "fix(ing).... the primary rights of individuals with respect to their person and property". See, e.g., Haven Federal Savings & Loan Association vs. Kirian, 579 So. 2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1991).

Indeed, this matter is similar to other cases which have interpreted the right to access to public records and the "method" by which one can obtain such records. In those cases, the appellate courts of this State have held that the method by which

county Aviation Authority vs. Azarelli Construction Company, Inc., 436 So. 2d 153 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). The statute at issue in this case also serves the purpose of setting out the circumstances under which the privilege is waived. That fact alone does not make this a procedural statute. Certainly, the legislature of this State, in granting a privilege, has the right to determine under which circumstances it will be waived and will not be waived. (See, generally, Florida Statutes 415.109 and 415.512, wherein the legislature has already declared that all privileges, with the exception of attorney-client and preacher-penitent, are automatically waived in cases of alleged abuse and neglect of children, the aged, and the disabled). These statutes are neither procedural nor unconstitutional.

Even though Section 455.241(2), Fla. Stat. (1993) contains, within its wording, the circumstances under which the privilege applies and does not apply, these provisions are only a portion of the substantive grant of the privilege. They are, most respectfully, not an attempt, intentional, vague, or otherwise, to set out rules of practice for the Courts. They are not, most respectfully, an attempt, intentional, vague, or otherwise, to usurp the rule making authority of this Court. Indeed, in its ruling, the Second District Court of Appeal, in <u>Richter</u>, already set out that Section 455.241(2), is constitutional for these exact reasons. This position has been echoed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Kirkland v. Middleton</u>, 639 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994).

The other constitutional challenges asserted by the Petitioner in this cause -the alleged abridgment of their right to free speech and assembly -- is nothing more
than a vague attempt to cloud the obvious facts of this case. The statute at issue
here balances out the interests of the patient's right to privacy and the need for
confidentiality in the patient-physician relationship along with the physician's ethical
obligation to maintain the confidences of his patients and, on the other hand, the
Defendant's right to obtain discovery, through appropriate means, during the defense
of a lawsuit. Petrillo v. Syntex Laboratories, Inc., 499 N.E. 2d 952 (III. App. 1986),
appeal denied, 505 N.E. 2d 361 (III. 1987). Indeed, it is very interesting to note that
the Florida Medical Association, which represents the doctors of this State, has filed
a brief as Amicus Curiae on behalf of the Petitioners' in this case even though the
statute, itself, is in total accord with the doctor's own ethical standards.

The AMA's Principles of Medical Ethics state: "a physician shall respect the rights of patients... and shall safeguard patient confidences within the constraints of the law".

This is further codified by Sections 5.05 through 5.08 of the current Opinions of the Judicial Council of the AMA which provide in part:

The information disclosed to a physician during the course of the relationship between physician and patient is confidential to the greatest possible degree.... The physician should not reveal confidential communications or information without the express consent of the patient, unless required to do so by law.

The patient's history, diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis may be discussed with the patient's lawyer with the consent of the patient or the patient's lawful representative.

Both for the protection of confidentiality and appropriate release of information of records is the rightful expectation of the patient. A physician should respect the patient's expectations of confidentiality concerning medical records that involve the patient's care and treatment.

History, diagnosis, prognosis, and the like, acquired during the physician-patient relationship may be disclosed to an insurance company representative only if the patient or his lawful representative has consented to the disclosure.

See Section 5.05 through 5.08 of the Current Opinions of the Judicial Council of the AMA. (Emphasis added).

Finally, the Hippocratic Oath, which is the basic tenet of the medical profession and has been in existence since the 5th Century BC.E., and which is sworn to by every medical student as they graduate and receive their medical degree, clearly states:

"Whatever, in connection with my professional practice or not in connection with that practice, I see or hear, in the life of men, which ought naught to be spoken abroad, I will not divulge, as reckoning that all such should be kept secret."

Plainly, Section 455.241(2), Fla. Stat. (1993), is in clear alignment with the ethical standards of the medical profession. To now come in here and argue, as amicus in this matter, that the FMA is not obligated to abide by these standards simply because a medical negligence action is filed runs directly contrary to their own standards and directly contrary to the clear wording of 455.241(2). Indeed, that statute is almost a <u>verbatim</u> copy of their own ethical standards.

The constitutionality of this statute is not lessened simply because the Defendants argue that they can obtain the same information through discovery methods. That could not be further from the truth. The fact that they can get the same information through discovery methods demonstrates that the statute is, by its very nature, constitutional. Discovery methods allow for the appropriate dissemination of material information which is not privileged or, which, although privileged, may be discovered only through appropriate methods.

Arguments that the statute is unconstitutional which are based on policy grounds, must also fail. The constitutionality of this statute should not be overturned by this Court. The policy, wisdom or necessity of a particular statute, if constitutional, is a matter of legislative prerogative which cannot be second guessed by the judicial branch. See, e.g., 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law, p.59, pp. 261. Section 455.241(2), Fla. Stat. (1993) is the law of the State of Florida. It is the law which sets out the substantive right of the physician-patient privilege. The mere fact that the Petitioners feel that it does not allow them the full, open, and unrestrained discovery which they seek, is irrelevant. This Court should not be used as the forum for these Petitioners to seek to overturn a privilege which the legislature has seen fit to enact in order to protect the rights of patients.³

³ Indeed, it is also chilling to think that the doctors of this State have elected to side with the Petitioners in this matter seeking to waive the privilege which they themselves have ingrained in them from medical school and onward and which they, as a national body, have set within their own standards.

C. JOHNSON v. MT. SINAI IS IN THE MINORITY AND SHOULD BE DISREGARDED. FURTHERMORE, JOHNSON SHOULD BE OVERRULED AS VIOLATIVE OF 455.241(2).

The only District Court of Appeal in this State which is allowed any form of exparte contact between counsel for the Defendant and a treating physician who is not the Defendant, is the Third District Court. In Johnson v. Mt. Sinai Medical Center, 615 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993), the Third District Court allowed a soliloquy wherein the attorney does all the talking and the physician remains silent. However, even the seemingly nonsensical ruling of the Third District Court does little to protect the privilege.

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